STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

JUL 07 2014

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Charleston County

R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

AKEEM O. SMITH,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2012-213518

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID ALEXANDER  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the trial court should have charged self-defense when: (1) the alleged victim admitted that he shot first, and (2) the jury was free to disbelieve the State's evidence tending to disprove self-defense?

2.

Whether the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments forbid sentencing an adult defendant to mandatory life without parole when one of his prior "strikes" was a crime committed as a juvenile?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In August 2011, a Charleston County grand jury indicted appellant Akeem Smith (“Smith”) for armed robbery, first-degree burglary, kidnapping, and attempted murder. On November 13, 2012, appellant was tried before the Honorable R. Markley Dennis and a jury. R. 1. Beattie Butler and Michael Cooper represented appellant. R. 2. Timmy Finch and Shannon Elliott represented the State. R. 2. The jury convicted appellant and Judge Dennis sentenced him to mandatory life imprisonment without parole based on South Carolina’s recidivist statute. R. 354, 1. 20 – 355, 1. 2. Appellant timely served and filed a notice of appeal and this appeal follows.

## ARGUMENT

1.

The trial court should have charged self-defense because: (1) the alleged victim admitted that he shot first, and (2) the jury was free to disbelieve the State's evidence tending to disprove self-defense.

### Introduction

In the wee morning hours of October 2, 2010, a gun battle erupted in a single-wide trailer. Despite numerous undisputed lies by the alleged victims as to what happened, one undisputed fact was that one of them fired the first shot. Despite this testimony, the trial judge refused to charge self-defense. Deciding this issue requires only the simple application of precedent that holds: (1) when any evidence of self-defense is introduced, it must be charged to the jury, and (2) the jury is free to disbelieve any part or all of a witness's testimony. Simply put, because the alleged victim testified he fired the first shot and the jury could disbelieve their testimony about why or how the defendant came to be in the trailer, a self-defense charge was required.

### Relevant Facts

Octavia and Tyrone Ancrum, a married couple, lived in single-wide trailer in rural Charleston County. R. 48, ll. 21 – 24. Octavia was a “stay-at-home mom.” R. 46, ll. 22 – 23. Tyrone, a *soi-disant* concert promoter, owned a company called “Behind Closed Doors Production.” R. 119, l. 18 – 120, l. 6. He described it as a cash business. R. 120, ll. 7 – 13. When asked if he had any felony convictions, Tyrone replied, “armed robbery, stolen car – I have various charges.” R. 120, l. 22 – 121, l. 2. He also had a conviction for trafficking cocaine. R. 142, ll. 1 – 3. Although it was illegal for Tyrone to possess a firearm, the

concert promoter owned a “.357 Magnum with a built-in laser scope” and an AK-47 that he kept beside his bed. R. 134, ll. 2 – 3. R. 129, l. 21 – 130, l. 7. R. 61, ll. 12 – 16. Octavia owned a .380 handgun which she kept in the dresser drawer in their bedroom. R. 61, ll. 12 – 24. Octavia had a pending charge for assault with intent to kill with the solicitor’s office prosecuting the case. She ultimately pled to a misdemeanor charge of unlawful carrying of a firearm and received a fine. R. 23, l. 21 – 24, l. 12. R. 110, ll. 11 – 20.

*Tyrone and Octavia’s Version of Events at Trial*

On the night of the gun battle, Octavia claimed she had been at a “girls’ night” at her sister’s house. R. 116, ll. 17 – 25. R. 47, ll. 2 – 18. She left for her sister’s house at approximately 11:00 PM. R. 47, ll. 12 – 18. She stayed at her sister’s house playing cards and drinking until 4:00 AM. R. 47, l. 25 – 48, l. 7. Tyrone had taken the children to his mother’s house. R. 48, ll. 11 – 18.

Octavia described what happened when she returned home as a home invasion and robbery. She claimed that when she got out of her car two men ambushed her and hit her in the back of the head. R. 52, l. 1 – 53, l. 3. They forced her to let them in her trailer. R. 52, l. 21 – 53, l. 23. The men took her into the bedroom and demanded money. R. 53, l. 17 – 54, l. 8. She gave them her purse and an undetermined amount of cash that she and her husband kept hidden underneath the bottom drawer of their dresser. R. 55, l. 3 – 56, l. 14.

One of the men did not wear a mask. R. 53, ll. 17 – 23. The unmasked man told Octavia to take off her clothes and put a pillowcase over her head. R. 56, l. 20 – 57, l. 5. The other man was standing across the hall. R. 57, ll. 6 – 13. At this point, they heard a car arrive outside and one of the men said, “that’s him.” R. 60, ll. 7 – 17. The men told her to be quiet. R. 60, ll. 7 – 23.

Octavia heard her husband walk onto the porch and “faintly” say her name. R. 60, ll. 18 – 23. She told him not to come in. R. 60, ll. 18 – 23. According to Octavia, “as soon as I said that, that’s when the gunshots erupted.” R. 60, ll. 22 – 23.

Tyrone claimed that on his way home from a club, he noticed a man standing near his gate. R. 124, l. 19 – 125, l. 19. Tyrone confronted the man and he ran away. R. 125, ll. 3 – 15. As Tyrone came to his house, he “knew something was wrong.” R. 125, ll. 20 – 21. He took his laser-scope .357 Magnum from the glove compartment. R. 126, ll. 14 – 15. When he noticed the back door was not locked it “totally confirmed that something was wrong.” R. 125, ll. 20 – 25. He called to his wife and when she responded, he claimed he could hear in her voice that something was wrong. R. 126, ll. 1 – 4.

Tyrone peeped around the corner and saw a shadow. R. 127, ll. 8 – 16. Despite knowing his wife was somewhere in the dark single-wide trailer, he described being the first to fire down its length:

I see a shadow that’s moving off of the refrigerator. And I know it’s not my wife, because I just – I heard her voice come from this side of the house. **So this point, I shoot through the wall.**

Q. What did you think you were shooting at when you shot through the wall?

A. I knew someone was in my house. It wasn’t a question. Because why would she answer me and not come out? Like, it was just – and I knew she was on this side, so who’s moving around on the opposite side of the house?

Q. What happened **after you shot** and –

A. **They returned fire.** So they are, like, shooting up in the hallway, and I’m backing out of the hallway. Because, like, I could hear the bullets coming by me.... I go back up the steps again, and as I’m trying to get in the house, I shoot again, and – **I’m just shooting blindly. I don’t see nothing, but I’m shooting.** Start to shoot through that wall again, through the same side over by the where I saw the shadow.

R. 127, l. 8 – 128, l. 10 (emphasis added). The gun battle continued and Tyrone heard “the windowpane bust out.” R. 129, ll. 4 – 6. Tyrone made his way to the yard. R. 129, ll. 7 – 16.

Octavia said the unmasked man dragged her during the gun fight and used her as a body shield. R. 62, ll. 2 – 17. She broke free. R. 62, ll. 2 – 17. She heard the glass break. R. 62, ll. 4 – 17. She “ended up getting the gun, the .380, and firing it in the direction that I had seen them run off into.” R. 62, ll. 18 – 20. Octavia was certain that it was her gun from the dresser that she fired. R. 65, l. 3 – 67, l. 11. R. 96, ll. 6 – 9.

Tyrone saw Octavia come running out of the house and fall. R. 129, ll. 7 – 16. Instead of checking on his wife, Tyrone “ran in the house to get my assault rifle.” R. 129, ll. 21 – 22. He retrieved his AK-47 from “between the mattresses” and ran across the yard firing into the darkness. R. 131, ll. 9 – 11. At this point, Tyrone realized he had been shot in the leg. R. 131, ll. 9 – 17. He hid his AK-47 behind his mother’s house. R. 131, ll. 9 – 17. He locked the door to his trailer. Tyrone and Octavia got in the car and were pulling out of the driveway when the police arrived and prevented them from leaving. R. 131, l. 9 – 132, l. 2.

*The Police Investigation and Tyrone and Octavia’s Version of Events Before Trial*

Tyrone and Octavia tried to get away without letting the police in their house. R. 221, l. 11 – 222, l. 2. The police got a search warrant. R. 223, ll. 7 – 11. They recovered multiple shell casings and photographed the numerous bullet holes in the trailer. R. 153, l. 17 – 181, l. 15.

The lead investigator, Robert Colson, described Tyrone and Octavia as “not very helpful” and “reluctant to give any information to assist in the investigation.” R. 221, ll. 11

- 16. Neither would identify any suspects. R. 224, ll. 21 – 24. Colson closed the case. R. 222, ll. 3 – 15. Octavia admitted that she “was uncooperative.” R. 75, ll. 13 – 17. Tyrone was discharged from the hospital after a four-hour stay. R. 77, ll. 16 – 19. After a brief stop at their aunt’s house, the couple went to Savannah. R. 77, l. 20 – 139, l. 6.

Nine days later, Octavia gave the police a false sworn statement. R. 89, ll. 22 – 24. She admitted she lied in the statement. R. 88, ll. 8 – 10. Omitted from her statement was any mention of the men getting cash from a dresser drawer, the men telling her to take off her clothes, or the men telling her to put a pillowcase over her head. R. 88, l. 23 – 89, l. 21. She told the police that one of the suspects dropped the .380 pistol, she picked it up, and shot him. R. 87, ll. 17 – 19. Octavia claimed she told these lies because she was worried her husband would be charged as a felon in possession of a firearm. R. 75, ll. 18 – 22.

However, Octavia continued to lie about the gun even after the trial began. At the Neil v. Biggers hearing, when Octavia was asked whether the gun she grabbed belonged to her, she testified she was not sure. R. 15, l. 19 – 16, l. 10. The following exchange occurred at the hearing:

Q. Do you know how that gun got there?

A. My assumption was that it was their gun. That was just my assumption.

Q. Well, it wasn’t your gun; is that right?

A. I’m not sure.

Q. So the gun that you found in the house, you’re not sure whether it is yours or not? This is important.

A. It’s the gun that I found in the house. Was –

Q. You just said you’re not sure if –

A. I’m not sure if the gun that I fired was mine. I fired a gun.

Q. So if you don't know where it came from, you wouldn't know which suspects' gun that was, because it might have been yours?

A. Repeat the question so that I have clarity on that.

Q. You wouldn't know whether it came from a suspect, or which suspect it came from, because it could have been yours; the gun?

A. To the best of my knowledge I don't believe that it was my firearm.

Q. Okay. Whose was it? Which of the two, if it wasn't yours?

A. Maybe it was – it was his. I'm not sure. They were both in the area, so I'm not – I have no way of positively identifying if it belonged to either that – Mr. Smith or the other guy that was present.

R. 16, l. 8 – 17, l. 9. When confronted with this lie that occurred the day before trial on cross-examination, Octavia claimed she was confused and blamed the defense lawyer because it was his “job to trick me up on those types of questions.” R. 92, l. 3 – 98, l. 1.

Octavia then claimed she thought defense counsel meant the .357, but was forced to admit this was yet another lie because she and Tyrone owned the .357, as well. R. 98, ll. 2 – 16. After the Biggers hearing, Octavia and Tyrone met with the police and the solicitor. R. 100, ll. 11 – 17. Tyrone told Octavia to do what the solicitor said and to “just tell the truth.” R. 101, ll. 13 – 20.

Even three days before trial, the Charleston County Solicitor's Office was still trying to determine whether to believe their star witnesses' stories. Tyrone initially told the police that the first gun he had was his wife's .380, even though at trial he testified he had the laser-scope .357. R. 138, ll. 4 – 5. He lied to the police and never mentioned the AK-47. R. 138, ll. 13 – 23. The first time he told anyone about the AK-47 was approximately three days before trial when he “got into it” with a detective. R. 138, l. 24 – 139, l. 7. The detective told Tyrone “nothing that you are saying is matching up with these guns. **Your story is**

okay, but when we get to these guns, it's not making sense." R. 139, ll. 4 – 7 (emphasis added). Tyrone further described this confrontation:

I told them that I would confess to the guns and the handling of the weapons, but I wasn't going to do it and go to jail for it. Before I would admit to it, I would just deny it. At that point, he was, like, you know, you're not the criminal. You're the victim here. And, like, **we just need the truth so we can get this guy off the streets.**

R. 139, l. 20 – 140, l. 1 (emphasis added). Tyrone entered into a proffer agreement. R. 149, ll. 21 – 23. He then handed the AK-47 over to the prosecution. R. 140, ll. 8 – 9.

The police found blood droplets outside of the house that were later matched to the defendant. R. 161, ll. 18 – 25. R. 244, ll. 2 – 6. The defendant admitted he was at the scene in his opening statement. R. 38, ll. 10 – 14. Octavia identified the defendant from a photographic lineup stating she was "80%" certain of her identification. R. 82, ll. 8 – 20. She denied having ever seen the defendant before. R. 83, l. 24 – 84, l. 6.

On the night of the incident, before Octavia and Tyrone left for the hospital, the only description she was willing to give the police was, "black men" and "dark clothes." R. 102, ll. 1 – 13. She said the defendant had on a mask, but the other person did not. R. 102, ll. 14 – 22. Even though Octavia previously claimed she was afraid to give a description because the assailants might retaliate, she admitted that she gave the police no further information about their description immediately after the incident when the police were in the best position to apprehend them. R. 103, l. 2 – 104, l. 9. R. 75, l. 18 – 76, l. 9. She never initiated contact with the police after the incident. R. 105, ll. 16 – 19.

The defendant exercised his constitutional right not to testify. During closing argument, defense counsel used Tyrone and Octavia's repeated lies to forcefully argue that the jury should disbelieve their story. R. 294, l. 25 – 315, l. 1. He argued that the

“unmasked man” who Octavia never described did not exist. R. 298, ll. 3 – 23. R. 305, ll. 4 – 14. Citing the “old Blues song, ‘Open My Front Door, Hear My Back Door Slam,’” defense counsel posited that Tyrone came home, found Octavia alone with the defendant in the bedroom, and opened fire.<sup>1</sup> R. 309, ll. 6 – 17.

Noting that Tyrone testified he fired first, the defendant asked the trial judge to charge self-defense. R. 263, ll. 19 – 22. The trial judge stated, “There could be some argument. I’m not sure that it did or didn’t. I mean, there’s some evidence of that, but I would—there’s some evidence that he fired, but I don’t—that’s really unclear, but I don’t think there’s a sufficient basis for the self-defense.” R. 263, l. 24 – 264, l. 3. The trial judge did not give a self-defense charge. R. 315, l. 3 – 339, l. 1. The trial judge noted the previously stated exceptions after the completion of the charge. R. 339, ll. 10 – 11.

### **Discussion**

The trial judge erred in refusing to charge self-defense. “If there is any evidence in the record from which it could reasonably be inferred that the defendant acted in self-defense, the defendant is entitled to instructions on the defense, and the trial judge’s refusal to do so is reversible error.” State v. Muller, 282 S.C. 10, 10, 316 S.E.2d 409, 409 (1984). “When reviewing the circuit court’s refusal to deliver a requested jury instruction, appellate courts must consider the evidence in a light most favorable to the defendant.” State v. Williams, 400 S.C. 308, 314, 733 S.E.2d 605, 608-09 (Ct. App. 2012).

---

<sup>1</sup> This was, in fact, what the defendant said happened in a statement he gave to the police that was not admitted into evidence. R. 367 (State’s Ex. 93.).

Tyrone testified he was the first to shoot. R. 127, l. 8 – 128, l. 10. This fact alone constitutes the “any evidence” necessary to receive a self-defense charge. Therefore, this case must be reversed.

The State will likely argue that the only evidence in the case was Octavia and Tyrone’s tale of a home invasion. If Octavia and Tyrone’s version is believed, then the defendant would not be “without fault in bringing on the difficulty.” Id. at 314, 733 S.E.2d at 609. However, any such ruling would require the court to believe Octavia and Tyrone’s yarn. “A jury is free to believe a portion of the testimony of a witness and disbelieve another portion.” State v. Smith, 304 S.C. 129, 131, 403 S.E.2d 162, 163 (Ct. App. 1991); see also State v. Register, 323 S.C. 471, 481, 476 S.E.2d 153, 159 (1996) (stating jury is free to believe or disbelieve expert witness testimony). The trial judge charged the jury it had “the right to believe many witnesses against one, one witness against many, parts of a witness’s testimony, or none of a witness’s testimony.” R. 324, ll. 11 – 16.

The jury could have believed that the defendant was alone at the house with Octavia (as was argued by defense counsel) and Tyrone came home and opened fire (as Tyrone testified). The trial court could not have reached a conclusion that the defendant was not entitled to a self-defense instruction without making a credibility determination in the State’s favor. See State v. Rogers, 405 S.C. 554, 569 n.5, 748 S.E.2d 265, 273 n.5 (Ct. App. 2013) (stating that at the directed verdict stage—which uses the same “any evidence” standard as a jury charge—the court may not weigh the credibility of witnesses). Any such credibility determination was not allowed.

Finally, the trial court’s refusal to give a self-defense charge could not rightfully be based on the defendant’s failure to present any evidence. The defendant has no burden to

present evidence. U.S. Const. amends. V, VI, XIV. The State has the burden of disproving self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Dickey, 394 S.C. 491, 499, 716 S.E.2d 97, 101 (2011). The trial court did not abide by the “any evidence” standard for determining whether to charge self-defense and improperly shifted the burden to present evidence of self-defense to the defendant. This error requires reversal of the case and a new trial.

2.

The Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments forbid sentencing an adult defendant to mandatory life without parole when one of his prior “strikes” was a crime committed as a juvenile.

Smith received a mandatory sentence of life imprisonment based on a crime he committed when he was sixteen years old. R. 352, l. 21 – 354, l. 9. Citing Miller v. Alabama, 132 S.Ct. 2455 (2012), Smith objected to the use of this crime as one of his “strikes” under section 17-25-45 of the South Carolina Code. R. 350, l. 21 – 354, l. 9; R. 371 (Court’s Ex. 3). The State did not contest that the prior strike was based on a crime committed when Smith was sixteen. R. 350, l. 21 – 354, l. 9. The trial judge disregarded the objection and sentenced him to life without the possibility of parole. R. 354, l. 20 – 355, l. 2. The trial judge asked the defendant, “[Y]ou understand I don’t have any discretion in this matter?” This lack of discretion violates Smith’s constitutional rights.

In Graham v. Florida, the United States Supreme Court held “that for a juvenile offender who did not commit homicide the Eighth Amendment forbids the sentence of life without parole.” 560 U.S. 48, 75 (2010). The Supreme Court extended this holding in Miller, stating, “We therefore hold that the Eighth Amendment forbids a sentencing scheme that mandates life in prison without the possibility of parole for juvenile offenders.” Miller,

132 S.Ct. at 2469. It logically follows from this rule that the Eighth Amendment forbids mandatory life sentencing based on a crime committed as a juvenile.

The Court stated “that children are constitutionally different from adults for purposes of sentencing.” Id. at 2464. Children have less moral culpability. Id. at 2464-65. The Miller Court emphasized the need for individualized sentencing for juveniles. Id. at 2467. The Court stated that the sentencer must “have the ability to consider the mitigating qualities of youth.” Id. As aptly noted by Judge Dennis, South Carolina’s recidivist law took away his discretion and his ability to consider any possible range of sentences. Removing this discretion from the trial judge violated Smith’s Eighth Amendment rights.

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