ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Charleston County  
Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case Tracking No. 2012-213518

---

The State,

Respondent,

vs.

Akeem O. Smith,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 15608

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

JUN 24 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Charleston County  
Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The trial court properly denied Appellant's request to charge self-defense. There was no evidence presented at trial indicating the charge was proper.
- II. The trial court did not err in relying on a conviction of Appellant for a crime which occurred when Appellant was sixteen as Appellant's first strike for purposes of the recidivist statute. The use of the juvenile conviction did not violate the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution.

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The State agrees with Appellant's procedural Statement of the Case.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The trial court properly denied Appellant's request to charge self-defense. There was no evidence presented at trial indicating the charge was proper.**

Appellant contends the trial court erred in failing to give a self-defense charge to the jury. He claims the jury could believe part of the State's evidence and disbelieve part and it would support a claim for self-defense. There is absolutely no evidence presented demonstrating Appellant acted in self-defense. Accordingly, the trial court properly denied the request to charge self-defense.

A trial court is required to charge the current and correct law of South Carolina. See State v. Rayfield, 369 S.C. 106, 119, 631 S.E.2d 244, 251 (2006). "The law to be charged must be determined from the evidence presented at trial." State v. Knoten, 347 S.C. 296, 302, 555 S.E.2d 391, 394 (2001). "An appellate court will not reverse the trial judge's decision regarding a jury charge absent an abuse of discretion." State v. Mattison, 388 S.C. 469, 479, 697 S.E.2d 578, 584 (2010) (citing State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 647 S.E.2d 144 (2007)). "To warrant reversal, a trial judge's refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial to the defendant." Mattison, 388 S.C. at 479, 697 S.E.2d at 58.

A self-defense charge is not required unless it is supported by the evidence. State v. Light, 378 S.C. 641, 649, 664 S.E.2d 465, 469 (2008) (citing State v. Goodson, 312 S.C. 278, 440 S.E.2d 370 (1994)). "If there is any evidence in the record from which it could reasonably be inferred that the defendant acted in self-defense, the defendant is entitled to instructions on the defense, and the trial judge's refusal to do so is reversible error." Light, 378 S.C. at 650, 664 S.E.2d at 469 (citing State v. Slater, 373 S.C. 66, 644

S.E.2d 50 (2007)); State v. Frazier, 401 S.C. 224, 233, 736 S.E.2d 301, 306 (Ct. App. 2013). To prove entitlement to a self-defense charge, the record must contain evidence of four elements:

(1) the defendant must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty; (2) the defendant must have been in actual imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he must have actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury; (3) if his defense is based upon his belief of imminent danger, the defendant must show that a reasonably prudent person of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the belief that he was actually in imminent danger and that the circumstances were such as would warrant a person of ordinary prudence, firmness, and courage to strike the fatal blow in order to save himself from serious bodily harm or the loss of his life; and (4) the defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger.

Light, 378 S.C. at 649, 664 S.E.2d at 469.

At trial, Octavia Ancrum and Tyrone Ancrum both testified regarding the events of October 2010. Octavia testified she left Tyrone at home while she went over to a family member's house for a girls' night. She stated she purchased some diapers and other items on her way. (T.107-108; R. 46-47). During the evening, Tyrone called and indicated he was taking the children to his mother's house. (T.109; R. 48). She said she returned home around 4:00 am. (T.111-112; R. 50-51).

When Octavia got out of the car and gathered the items she purchased earlier in the evening, she headed to the door of the trailer. She testified she saw a shadowy figure running towards her, so she tried to turn and run. A second figure appeared and the two ambushed her. (T.113; R. 52). She stated one person hit her with something hard and she fell to the ground. (T.113; R. 52). Octavia dropped the items she had purchased as the

two individuals forced her into the house. (T.114; R.53). The individuals then demanded money and asked where her husband was at the time. (T.114-115; R. 53-54). Octavia got money she kept hidden in a dresser and gave it to the men. (T.116-117; R. 55-56). One man remained in the bedroom area with Octavia, while the other went to another area of the house. (T.120-121; R. 59-60).

Octavia testified she heard the men saying "That's him" and realized her husband Tyrone had returned home. She said when Tyrone opened the door, she heard him call her name and she told him not to come in the house. At that point, she stated "gunshots erupted." (T.121; R. 60).

Tyrone testified he stayed home for a while after his wife left. (T.182-183; R. 121-122). He runs a music promotion business with a partner and they had a show that night. He received a call from his partner about how busy the show was that night, so he took the children to his mother's home and headed to the show to assist. (T.182-183; R. 121-122). His promotions business deals with lots of cash, and he usually brings the cash home with him at night after a show. (T.185; R. 124). At the end of the show he returned home around 4:00 in the morning. (T.184; R. 123).

Tyrone indicated as he passed the gate to his trailer, he saw a guy standing up from his house. He stated he did not recognize the man and he knows all the people in the area because most are related. When Tyrone confronted the man about what he was doing near his house, the man ran. (T.186; R. 125). As Tyrone pulled up to his house, he saw the diapers on the ground and believed something was wrong. (T.186; R. 125).

After getting a gun out of the glove compartment of his vehicle, Tyrone went to the trailer and found the back door unlocked, confirming his suspicions something was

wrong. He testified he opened the door and called to his wife. She responded and he could hear something was wrong in her voice. (T.186-187; R. 125-126). Tyrone testified he looked into the house and saw a shadow of a person moving in a different area of the house from where his wife's voice originated. He testified he shot through the wall knowing someone was in his house and that something was wrong. (T.188; R. 127). A gun fight ensues between Appellant and his co-perpetrator and Tyrone. (T.188-189; R. 127-128). The men in the house ultimately broke out a window and ran from the house. (T.190; 192; R.129; 131). Tyrone went in pursuit of the individuals until his leg gave out and he realized he had been shot. (T.192; R.131).

While Appellant's counsel did a thorough job of cross-examining Tyrone and Octavia regarding the inconsistencies in their statements, their failure to be completely honest regarding the weapons located in the home, and their questionable backgrounds, nothing presented changed the facts of the events from those presented by Octavia and Tyrone. No evidence in the Record indicates Appellant responded in self-defense. There is no evidence in the record to indicate he was in the Ancrum's home for any reason other than an illegal reason. The only evidence placed him in the home as part of a burglary and armed robbery.

Appellant contends the mere fact Tyrone testified he shot first entitles him to a jury charge on self-defense. However, Tyrone was in his own home and firing at an intruder. He knew someone was present that was not entitled to be there and there is no evidence indicating otherwise. The Record must reflect some basis to demonstrate all four elements of self-defense prior to the charge being proper and there is no evidence of any kind indicating Appellant was not at fault in bringing on the difficulty.

Additionally, he contends the jury could believe the argument of Appellant's counsel that the second co-perpetrator did not exist and Tyrone came home to find Appellant with his wife. No evidence in the record supports this theory. No evidence is presented indicating Appellant and Octavia were involved in an illicit affair. Appellant asserts the jury could accept the version of events proffered by counsel during closing argument. Closing argument, however, is not evidence in the record. See State v. Chapping, 333 S.C. 124, 133, 508 S.E.2d 851, 856 (1998); Sosebee v. Leeke, 293 S.C. 531, 362 S.E.2d 22 (1987); McManus v. Bank of Greenwood, 171 S.C. 84, 171 S.E. 473 (1933). Even though counsel for Appellant may have hypothesized about alternate theories, no evidence exists in the record to support the theory and, as a result, no evidence supports Appellant's claim for a self-defense charge.<sup>1</sup>

Further, Appellant contends the jury could disregard part of Octavia and Tyrone's testimony but believe Tyrone's testimony he fired first and it would support a self-defense charge being given. First, as discussed above, there is absolutely no evidence supporting a self-defense charge in the record. So even if part of the testimony was disregarded by the jury, there is still no evidence supporting the claim of self-defense. Second, a charge of self-defense cannot be based on the possibility the jury may believe some of the evidence and disbelieve other evidence. See e.g., Barber v. State, 393 S.C. 232, 712 S.E.2d 436 (2011) (finding alternate theory of liability such as accomplice liability must be based on evidence presented and cannot rely on possibility jury will

---

<sup>1</sup> Further, it should be noted even if there is evidence Tyrone came home and found Appellant engaged in an illicit affair with Octavia, thereby causing Tyrone to fire the first shot, Appellant would still not be without fault in bringing on the difficulty. See State v. Floyd, 160 S.C. 420, 158 S.E. 809, 812 (1931) (appellant found by victim in the midst of an illicit affair with victim's wife was not without fault in bringing on the difficulty). As a result, even under Appellant's unsupported theory, he was not entitled to a self-defense charge.

believe or disbelieve portion of the testimony); State v. Funchess, 267 S.C. 427, 229 S.E.2d 331 (1976) (a lesser-included offense may not be charged merely on the theory the jury may believe some of the evidence and disbelieve other evidence).

Further, any possible error in failing to give the charge is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The jury convicted Appellant of burglary, armed robbery, and kidnapping. Clearly they did not believe he had consent to be in the home, but instead believed the version of events told by Octavia and Tyrone. As a result of being convicted on the other charges, he would not have been without fault in bringing on the difficulty.<sup>2</sup>

A charge of self-defense is only appropriate in a situation when the jury has actually been presented with evidence upon which it could rely to find Appellant acted in self-defense. No such evidence exists in this case; therefore, the trial court appropriately denied the request to charge self-defense.

---

<sup>2</sup> The self-defense charge would have only been a defense to the attempted murder charge. It would not have acted as a defense to the burglary, armed robbery, or kidnapping charges. Accordingly, the only relief Appellant could be granted would be a new trial on the attempted murder charge. As a result, the life without parole sentence would still be applicable based on the convictions for burglary, armed robbery, and kidnapping all of which also qualify as most serious offenses.

**II. The trial court did not err in relying on a conviction of Appellant for a crime which occurred when Appellant was sixteen as Appellant's first strike for purposes of the recidivist statute. The use of the juvenile conviction did not violate the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution.**

Appellant maintains the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments forbid sentencing Appellant to life without parole when basing the enhancement on a prior conviction committed as a juvenile. The trial judge properly sentenced Appellant under section 17-25-45 of the South Carolina Code (Supp. 2012) because Appellant's prior juvenile conviction for a most serious offense constituted a qualifying prior conviction for enhancement purposes under the statute. Furthermore, the enhancement of Appellant's sentence with the prior juvenile conviction did not violate his right to be free from cruel and unusual punishment under the Eighth Amendment.

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). "[T]he trial court's ruling will not be disturbed absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law." State v. Sheldon, 344 S.C. 340, 342, 543 S.E.2d 585, 585-586 (Ct. App. 2001).

Pursuant to section 17-25-45:

Notwithstanding any other provision of law, except in cases in which the death penalty is imposed, upon a conviction for a most serious offense as defined by this section, a person must be sentenced to a term of imprisonment for life without the possibility of parole if that person has either:

- (1) one or more prior convictions for:
  - (a) a most serious offense.

S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45(A) (Supp. 2012). Appellant's current convictions for armed robbery, burglary, kidnapping, and attempted murder all qualify as a most serious

offense. See S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45(C)(1) (Supp. 2012). Furthermore, his prior conviction for assault and battery with intent to kill constitutes a most serious offense. Id. (Court's Exhibit 3; R. 371).

A juvenile adjudication in family court does not qualify as a conviction for purposes of sentencing enhancement under the statute. See State v. Ellis, 345 S.C. 175, 179, 547 S.E.2d 490, 492 (2001). However, when a juvenile is tried as an adult in general sessions court, a resulting conviction or guilty plea is a conviction for enhancement purposes. See State v. Standard, 351 S.C. 199, 203, 569 S.E.2d 325, 328 (2002).

The Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides: "Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, nor cruel and unusual punishments inflicted." U.S. Const. amend. XIII. As the South Carolina Supreme Court has recognized, what constitutes cruel and unusual punishment, and thus, what violates the Eighth Amendment, is determined by "evolving standards of decency that mark the progress of a maturing society." Standard, 351 S.C. at 204, 569 S.E.2d at 328 (quoting Thompson v. Oklahoma, 487 U.S. 815, 821 (1988)). "[U]nder State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 647 S.E.2d 144 (2007), . . . , the two principles to consider in determining whether a punishment is cruel and unusual are (1) the evolving standards of decency that mark the progress of a maturing society and (2) the proportionality between the punishment and the offense." State v. Williams, 380 S.C. 336, 346, 669 S.E.2d 640, 645 (Ct. App. 2008).

The United States Supreme Court (USSC) noted: "We have pinpointed that the 'clearest and most reliable objective evidence of contemporary values is the legislation enacted by the country's legislatures.'" Atkins v. Virginia, 536 U.S. 304, 312, 122 S.Ct.

2242, 2247 (2002) (quoting Penry v. Lynaugh, 492 U.S. 302, 331(1989)). “The Legislature has the power, within constitutional limits, to define and punish crimes.” State v. Washington, 338 S.C. 392, 400, 526 S.E.2d 709, 713 (2000) (quoting Guinyard v. State, 260 S.C. 220, 226, 195 S.E.2d 392, 395 (1973)). In this case, the legislature has determined a repeat offender of a most serious crime should be punished severely with life in prison without the possibility of parole.

The Eighth Amendment only prohibits sentences which are grossly out of proportion to the severity of the crime. See Curtis v. State, 345 S.C. 557, 575, 549 S.E.2d 591, 600 (2001); see also, State v. Jones, 344 S.C. 48, 56, 543 S.E.2d 541, 545 (2001) (“The cruel and unusual punishment clause requires the duration of a sentence not be grossly out of proportion with the severity of the crime.”). Further, the USSC has found:

All of these principles-the primacy of the legislature, the variety of legitimate penological schemes, the nature of our federal system, and the requirement that proportionality review be guided by objective factors-inform the final one: The Eighth Amendment does not require strict proportionality between crime and sentence. Rather, it forbids only extreme sentences that are “grossly disproportionate” to the crime.

Harmelin v. Michigan, 501 U.S. 957, 1001 (1991) (Kennedy, J. concurring in part and concurring in judgment).

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